A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Curtis Tanzy punched Steven Carter outside of Belltown Pizza 

one night. Mr. Carter fell to the ground and Mr. Tanzy walked away. 

After Mr. Tanzy left the scene, Justin Rosas approached Mr. Carter, 

who was still lying on the sidewalk. Mr. Rosas attempted to kick Mr. 

Carter in the head, but missed and fell to the ground himself. As Mr. 

Rosas got up, he slammed the edge of his skateboard across Mr. 

Carter's eyes, fracturing several of the bones in Mr. Carter's face. 

Although Mr. Tanzy committed fourth degree assault when he punched 

Mr. Carter in the head, his due process rights were violated when the 

trial court entered a conviction of second degree assault after the State 

failed to prove he acted as an accomplice with Mr. Rosas or that Mr. 

Carter suffered substantial bodily injury from the punch alone. 

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

When the court entered a conviction of second degree assault in 

the absence of sufficient evidence to prove each element of the offense 

beyond a reasonable doubt, it deprived Mr. Tanzy of his Fourteenth 

Amendment right to due process. 

1 



C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution requires the State prove each element of an 

offense beyond a reasonable doubt. To convict Mr. Tanzy of second 

degree assault the State had to prove he inflicted substantial bodily 

injury on Mr. Carter by acting as either a principal or an accomplice. 

Where the State's evidence did not establish Mr. Tanzy inflicted 

substantial bodily injury as a principal, or that he acted as an 

accomplice to the subsequent assault, is there sufficient evidence to 

support Mr. Tanzy's conviction for second degree assault? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Steven Carter was a student living in BeIItown when he became 

a regular at a bar called the Empire Lounge. 3/28113 RP 29-31. He 

frequented the bar often enough that he became friends with one of the 

bartenders, Tessa Engler, as well as one of the other regular patrons, 

Chris Lussek. 3/28113 RP 32, 33. One night, after Ms. Engler closed 

the Empire Lounge for the evening, the three decided to walk over to 

Belltown Pizza for additional drinks and pizza. 3/28113 RP 33. Mr. 

Carter drank two pitchers of beer at the Empire Lounge and then a 

2 



couple of scotch and cokes at Belltown Pizza, which was common for 

him during a night out. 3128113 RP 35, 37. 

At Belltown Pizza, Mr. Lussek expressed interest in a woman 

seated at a nearby table. 3/28113 RP 38. Mr. Carter encouraged Mr. 

Lussek to talk to her and, when Mr. Lussek declined, Mr. Carter sent a 

drink over on Mr. Lussek's behalf and later approached the woman to 

introduce himself and Mr. Lussek. Id. Curtis Tanzy was also at 

Belltown Pizza that night, and at trial the State speculated the woman 

was there with a group of people that included Mr. Tanzy. 411/13 RP 

50. The woman accepted the beer Mr. Carter sent over and no harsh 

words were exchanged between the two groups. 4/1/13 RP 51. 

The remainder of the relevant activity that night was captured 

by Belltown Pizza's security cameras. Ex. 1. About 30 minutes after 

arriving at the restaurant, Ms. Engler decided to step outside with other 

patrons to smoke a cigarette, and Mr. Carter joined them. 3/28/13 RP 

39,91; Ex. 1, Track 4 at 00:02-00:22; Ex. 1, Track 5 at 00:29-00:35. 

Mr. Tanzy followed behind. Ex. 1, Track 4 at 00:16-00:24; Ex. 1, 

Track 5 at 00:34-00:40. Once outside, the video shows Mr. Tanzy 

sharing a cigarette with another man, Justin Rosas, who is balancing on 

a skateboard, while Mr. Carter stands nearby with Ms. Engler and the 
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other smokers. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 00:39-00:50. Mr. Tanzy and Mr. 

Rosas may exchange words, but there is no sound to the video and an 

umbrella blocks most of their interaction. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 00:49-

01 :00. Mr. Tanzy then moves behind Mr. Carter. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 

00:59-01:04. Suddenly, without warning or provocation, Mr. Tanzy 

punches Mr. Carter from behind, striking the right side of Mr. Carter's 

head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01:12. 

Mr. Carter falls forward, bumping into Ms. Engler and landing 

face down on the concrete sidewalk, where he immediately flips 

himself over and puts his hand to his face. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01: 12-

01: 17. He lies there, at one point reaching out for Ms. Engler. Ex. 1, 

Track 6 at 01 :23. Although in the supine position, his legs are bent and 

his feet are planted on the ground. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01: 17 -01 :26. Ms. 

Engler shows brief concern, but turns around to accept a cigarette from 

a fellow smoker, turning her back to Mr. Carter. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 

01 :21-01 :29. At the same time, Mr. Tanzy walks down the street, 

eventually disappearing from the camera's view. Ex. 1, Track 01:15-

01:48. 

As Mr. Tanzy leaves the scene, Mr. Rosas moves to the curb, 

next to Mr. Carter's head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01:14-01 :19. He waits 
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until Ms. Engler's attention returns to smoking and swiftly lodges a 

kick at Mr. Carter's head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01:25-01:27. However, he 

misses badly and lands almost theatrically on the ground. Ex. 1, Track 

6 at 01 :27-01 :30. Having squandered his opportunity to kick Mr. 

Carter in the head, Mr. Rosas lashes out as he stands up, slamming the 

side of his skateboard down on Mr. Carter's face. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 

01 :33-01 :36. Immediately after the blow, Mr. Carter is still. Ex. 1, 

Track 6 at 01:37-01:52. His arms lay at his sides and his legs lay flat. 

Id. Ms. Engler eventually kneels beside him and Mr. Carter's legs 

begin to move again. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01:47-01:55. 

At trial, Mr. Carter testified he remembered nothing between 

stepping outside the door of the restaurant and waking up on the 

sidewalk, including the time he spent chatting with the smokers prior to 

the first blow to his head. 3/28/13 RP 40. When he woke up, his face 

was numb. 3/28113 RP 42. Mr. Carter suffered a central midface 

fracture, meaning that all the bones between the eye sockets were 

broken, including his nose, and it took five days before he could open 

his left eye. 3128/13 RP 43; 4/1/13 RP 8. Craig Birgfeld, M.D., a 

craniofacial plastic surgeon, testified Mr. Carter's injuries were 

consistent with a single blow to the face. 4/1/13 RP 13. Testing at the 
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hospital also revealed Mr. Carter's blood alcohol level was 0.187. 

4/1/13 RP 16. 

The State charged Mr. Tanzy with second degree assault. CP 9; 

RCW 9A.36.021 (1)(a). It alleged he inflicted substantial bodily hann 

in one of two ways. First, by knocking Mr. Carter unconscious with 

the first blow and thereby causing a temporary but substantial loss or 

impairment to the functioning of Mr. Carter's brain, or second, by 

acting as an accomplice to Mr. Rosas, who struck Mr. Carter in the face 

with the edge of his skateboard resulting in the central midface fracture. 

4/2113 RP 95-96. Mr. Tanzy conceded he assaulted Mr. Carter, but 

argued the evidence supported a conviction for fourth degree assault 

only. 4/2113 RP 121. 

The jury convicted Mr. Tanzy of second degree assault, and 

found Mr. Carter's injuries substantially exceeded the level of bodily 

hann necessary to constitute substantial bodily hann. CP 167, 169. 

The trial court denied the State's request for an exceptional sentence 

and imposed 66 months in prison. 5/8/13 RP 177-78; CP 176. 

Mr. Tanzy appeals. 
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E. ARGUMENT 

The State did not prove Mr. Tanzy committed second 
degree assault beyond a reasonable doubt. 

a. Due Process requires the State to prove each element of 
second degree assault beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The State bears the burden of producing sufficient evidence to 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of a crime 

charged. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 

368 (1970); State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819,825,132 P.3d 725 (2006). 

A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated 

when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. Winship, 397 

U.S. at 358; U.S. Const. amend. 14; Wash. Const. art. I, sec. 3; City of 

Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wn.2d 850,859,784 P.2d 494 (1989). 

In order to convict Mr. Tanzy of second degree assault the State 

was required to prove he intentionally assaulted Mr. Carter and 

recklessly inflicted "substantial bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a); 

CP 9. When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the Court 

must determine whether, after viewing the evidence most favorable to 

the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the element beyond 

a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P .2d 
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1068 (1992) (citing State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216,220-22,616 P.2d 

628 (1980)). 

b. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. 
Tanzy acted as an accomplice to Mr. Rosas. 

At trial, the State alleged Mr. Tanzy committed second degree 

assault both as a principal and as an accomplice. Under a theory of 

accomplice liability, the State argued the jury should convict Mr. Tanzy 

as an accomplice to Mr. Rosas, who slammed his skateboard into Mr. 

Carter's face, causing a central midface fracture. 4/1/13 RP 8; 4/2/13 

RP96. 

The language of the accomplice statute requires "that the 

putative accomplice must have acted with knowledge that his or her 

conduct would facilitate the crime for which he or she is eventually 

charged." State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568,579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000) 

(emphasis original). "The legislature ... intended the culpability of an 

accomplice not extend beyond the crimes of which the accomplice 

actually has 'knowledge.'" State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471,511,14 

P.3d 713 (2000). While the accomplice need not have knowledge of 
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every element of the crime charged, he must have general knowledge 

of that specific crime. Id. at 512. 

In order to convict Mr. Tanzy of second degree assault as an 

accomplice, the State needed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Mr. Tanzy had knowledge Mr. Rosas was going to commit an assault 

against Mr. Carter, and that he promoted or facilitated the crime in 

some way. CP 155. 

There was limited evidence that Mr. Tanzy and Mr. Rosas were 

acquainted with one another. Ms. Engler testified she recalled Mr. 

Tanzy and Mr. Rosas together in the restaurant. 3/28/13 RP 125-26. A 

street musician, Glen Freeman, testified he saw Mr. Tanzy and Mr. 

Rosas interact briefly outside the restaurant not long before Mr. Tanzy 

followed Mr. Carter outside. 3/28/13 RP 156. The video shows Mr. 

Tanzy accept a cigarette from Mr. Rosas, and possibly exchange words 

with him, before punching Mr. Carter. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 00:39-01:00. 

However, there is no evidence about what the two said, and no 

evidence that Mr. Tanzy had any knowledge Mr. Rosas would later 

assault Mr. Carter with his skateboard. 

Instead, the evidence showed two separate assaults. First, Mr. 

Tanzy struck Mr. Carter in the head and walked away from the scene. 
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Ex. 1, Track 01: 12-0 1 :48. Mr. Rosas did not attempt to kick Mr. Carter 

until approximately 12 seconds later. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01: 12-0 1 :25. 

By the time he lodged the kick, Mr. Tanzy had left the scene, walked 

down the street, and was almost entirely out of view of the security 

camera. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01:26. Mr. Rosas walked over to Mr. Carter 

only after he was on the ground and vulnerable. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 

01 :14-01:19. There was no evidence of an exchange between Mr. 

Tanzy and Mr. Rosas in between the two assaults or after Mr. Rosas 

attacked Mr. Carter, again because Mr. Tanzy left the scene almost 

immediately after punching Mr. Carter. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 01 :11-0:1 :17. 

No rational trier of fact could have found, beyond a reasonable 

doubt, that Mr. Tanzy had promoted or facilitated Mr. Rosas' attack of 

Mr. Carter, or that he had any knowledge Mr. Rosas was going to 

assault Mr. Carter with his skateboard. See Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221-

22. Because knowledge of the crime is required for a conviction under 

a theory of accomplice liability, the State failed to prove Mr. Tanzy 

committed second degree assault as an accomplice to Mr. Rosas. See 

Cronin, 142 Wn.2d at 579; Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 512. 
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c. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. 
Tanzy inflicted substantial bodily injury by punching Mr. 
Carter in the head. 

There was also insufficient evidence for the jury to find Mr. 

Tanzy committed assault in the second degree as the principal actor. 

Under RCW 9A.36.021 (1 )(a), an individual commits second degree 

assault when he "intentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly 

inflicts substantial bodily harm." Here, the jury was properly instructed 

that substantial bodily harm is defined as: 

bodily injury that involves a temporary but 
substantial disfigurement, or that causes a 
temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the 
function of any bodily part or organ, or that causes 
a fracture of any bodily part. 

CP 153; RCW 9A.04.IIO(4)(b). 

The State argued that when Mr. Tanzy punched Mr. Carter, he 

inflicted substantial bodily harm because Mr. Carter briefly lost 

consciousness as he fell, thereby causing temporary impairment of his 

brain functioning. 4/2/13 RP 95. The only evidence the State relied on 

for this alleged loss of consciousness came from two witnesses: Ms. 

Engler and Mr. Freeman. 

Ms. Engler testified that when Mr. Tanzy punched Mr. Carter, 

he fell on his back, striking his head on the curb of the sidewalk, and 
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"laid out completely" with his arms and legs open and his eyes rolled 

back in his head. 3/28/13 RP 107. However, when confronted with the 

video, she admitted it contradicted her memory. 3/28113 RP 129-132. 

She agreed the video showed Mr. Carter actually fell forward, turned 

himself over, and laid on the ground with his arms by his head and his 

legs bent before Mr. Rosas struck him with the skateboard. Id. 

Mr. Freeman testified that Mr. Carter fell a "dead man's fall," 

toppling over without bracing himself for the impact. 3/28/13 RP 162. 

However, unlike Ms. Engler, he recalled Mr. Carter was conscious after 

the fall, stating that Mr. Carter asked what had happened before being 

hit with the skateboard. 3/28/13 RP 165. 

Adeyinka Adedipe, M.D., the emergency room physician who 

treated Mr. Carter the night of the assault, testified there was no way to 

determine whether Mr. Carter had lost consciousness or suffered a 

concussion at any point that evening. 411/13 RP 86. She testified that 

while there were certain findings in a CAT scan a doctor could look for 

to suggest the individual had suffered a concussion, none of these 

findings were present in Mr. Carter's results. 411113 RP 87-88. 

A lay witness's assessment that Mr. Carter failed to brace 

himself for impact is not sufficient to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, 
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that Mr. Carter momentarily lost consciousness while falling after Mr. 

Tanzy punched him. Mr. Carter had been drinking heavily that night 

and had a blood a1cohollevel of 0.187 when he was treated at the 

hospital, a condition consistent with a slowed reaction time. 3/28113 

RP 35,37; 4/1/l3 RP 16. The evidence did not show that after the 

punch, but before the assault with the skateboard, Mr. Carter showed 

any signs of having suffered a temporary but substantial impairment of 

his brain's function. Cf. State v. McKague, 172 Wn.2d 802, 806, 262 

P .3d 1225 (2011 ) (evidence of concussion and resulting dizziness was 

sufficient to allow the jury to find the victim had suffered substantial 

bodily injury). The State therefore failed to prove Mr. Tanzy 

committed second degree assault by punching Mr. Carter in the head. 

d. Mr. Tanzy's conviction for second degree assault must be 
dismissed. 

If the reviewing court finds insufficient evidence to prove an 

element of the crime, reversal is required. Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221; 

State v. Lee, 128 Wn.2d 151, 164,904 P.2d 1143 (1995). Retrial 

following reversal for insufficient evidence is "unequivocally 

prohibited" and dismissal is the remedy. State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d 

303,309,915 P.2d 1080 (1996) ("[t]he double jeopardy clause of the 

Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution protects against a second 
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prosecution for the same offense, after acquittal, conviction, or a 

reversal for lack of sufficient evidence") (citing North Carolina v. 

Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969), 

overruled in part on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490 U.S. 794, 

109 S.Ct. 2201, 104 L.Ed.2d 865 (1989)). Because the State failed to 

prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Tanzy committed second 

degree assault, his conviction must be reversed. 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Tanzy respectfully asks this 

Court to remand for dismissal of the second degree assault conviction.