NO. 70324-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

**CURTIS TANZY** 

Appellant.



# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE DEAN LUM

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> BENJAMIN CARR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

##

#### A. ISSUE PRESENTED

To commit assault in the second degree, a defendant must intentionally assault a person and thereby recklessly inflict substantial bodily harm. "Substantial bodily harm" includes loss of consciousness or a fractured bone. Multiple witnesses testified that Curtis Tanzy punched Steven Carter in the head causing Carter to fall to the ground, apparently unconscious. Multiple witnesses testified that Tanzy's acquaintance, Justin Rosas, then advanced on Carter and struck Carter with the edge of Rosas' skateboard, fracturing bones in Carter's face. The entire incident was captured on surveillance video. Is there sufficient evidence from which a reasonable fact-finder could conclude that Tanzy inflicted substantial bodily harm on Carter, either as a principal actor or accomplice?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### PROCEDURAL FACTS.

Defendant Curtis Tanzy was charged by information with assault in the second degree ("assault"); specifically, the State alleged that on or about June 10, 2012, Tanzy, together with others, intentionally assaulted Steven Carter and thereby recklessly

1406-165 Tanzy COA

inflicted substantial bodily harm on Carter. CP 9. On April 3, 2013, a jury found Tanzy guilty as charged. CP 167. On May 8, 2013, the Honorable Judge Dean Lum, who presided over the trial, imposed a standard range sentence of 66 months in prison. CP 176. As appellant, Tanzy now challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of assault.

#### SUBSTANTIVE FACTS.

On June 10, 2012, Steven Carter was enjoying a night out with friends in the Belltown neighborhood of Seattle. 3/28/13 RP 33-34. He began the night at a club called the Empire Lounge, at which his friend Tessa Engler tended bar. <u>Id</u>. Also present at the Empire Lounge that evening was another friend of Carter's, Chris Glosecki. 3/28/13 RP 34-36. Carter and Glosecki drank beer at the Empire Lounge while waiting for Engler to finish her bartending shift. <u>Id</u>.

Once Engler was finished, Carter, Glosecki, and Engler continued their night out. 3/28/13 RP 35. They walked to Belltown Pizza, a few blocks from the Empire Lounge. <u>Id</u>. The three friends

1406-165 Tanzy COA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Transcribed phonetically throughout the record as "Lussek." 3/28/14 RP 33.

sat together at a table in the rear of Belltown Pizza and drank beer. 3/28/13 RP 36-39; 4/1/13 RP 50-53.

The appellant, Curtis Tanzy, and an acquaintance of his, Justin Rosas, were also at Belltown Pizza that night. 3/28/13 RP 154-156. The two had arrived earlier than Carter and his friends, and were observed by multiple witnesses socializing with each other. 3/28/13 RP 125-126, 154-156. Rosas was carrying a skateboard with him. 3/28/13 RP 154-156.

While socializing with Carter and Engler, Glosecki observed a woman toward the back of Belltown Pizza whom he found attractive. 3/28/13 RP 38. The woman was sitting in the general area of another group of people that included Tanzy and Rosas. 3/28/13 RP 125-26; 4/1/13 RP 50, 53. Because Glosecki was too bashful to approach the woman, Carter purchased the woman a drink and had it delivered to her on behalf of Glosecki. Id. 3/28/13 RP 38. The woman accepted the drink and no harsh words were exchanged among anyone. 4/1/13 RP 51.

Belltown Pizza's surveillance video captured the events that followed. Ex. 1.

A few minutes prior to the assault incident, Rosas went outside to smoke a cigarette alone. Ex. 1, Track 6; 3/28/13 RP

159. He stood in front of Belltown Pizza, leaning on a fence near the restaurant, rolling his skateboard back and forth under his foot. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 0:00-0:30.

Just before midnight, Engler went outside to smoke a cigarette with some restaurant patrons. Ex. 1, Track 4 at 0:02-0:22; Ex. 1, Track 63/28/13 RP 31, 91-93. Carter followed Engler outside. Ex. 1, Track 5 at 0:35. Glosecki remained seated in the restaurant. 3/28/13 RP 67. As Carter walked outside, Tanzy arose from his table at the rear of the restaurant and followed silently behind Carter. Ex. 1, Track 1 at 0:16-0:24. Carter was unaware that Tanzy was following him. 3/28/13 RP 39-40.

Carter stepped outside and stood with Engler and the restaurant patrons on the sidewalk in front of the door to Belltown Pizza. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 0:35-0:45; 3/28/13 RP 107. Carter was facing the street, with his back to the restaurant. <u>Id</u>. The group stood in a small circle and began to light their cigarettes. <u>Id</u>.

A street musician, Glen Freeman, stood approximately six feet to Carter's right, "busking" and performing for passersby. 3/28/13 RP 151, 158.

Upon exiting the front door of Belltown Pizza, Tanzy turned left and walked behind Carter toward Rosas, who was standing

apart from Carter's circle. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 0:38. Tanzy leaned on the fence next to Rosas. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 0:38-1:00. Rosas shared his cigarette with Tanzy and the two spoke briefly. Id.

While they spoke, Tanzy and Rosas looked toward Carter. Id.

After their conversation, Tanzy and Rosas broke apart. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:00-1:10. Tanzy took up a new position directly behind Carter. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:08. Rosas picked up his skateboard and changed positions as well. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:00-1:10. Rosas moved from the fence where he had been leaning to the curb, on the far side of Carter's circle. Id.

Suddenly and without any warning or provocation, Tanzy punched Carter in the back of the head, just behind Carter's right ear. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:12. Carter tensed, fell forward, and did not brace himself in any way. 3/28/13 RP 162. His face struck the pavement first and the rest of his body then crumpled to the ground. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:13. He suffered scrapes and cuts to his forehead, the tops of his knuckles, and the tops of his feet from where he made contact with the pavement. 3/28/13 RP 74.

Carter, for his part, testified at trial that he did not remember the punch. 3/28/13 RP 40. Carter did not remember anything from

1406-165 Tanzy COA

the time he stepped outside Belltown Pizza to the moment he "woke up" in pain on the sidewalk. <u>Id</u>.

Engler did not see the punch, but saw Carter fall and hit his head on the pavement, and described Carter as being "laid out completely." 3/28/13 RP 107. She saw that Carter's "eyes were rolled back in his head and completely out." 3/28/13 RP 121.

Freeman, the street musician, saw the punch and the manner in which Carter fell. 3/28/13 RP 162. He described the fall as a "dead man's fall... [Like] when you blink out. It's not like you are trying to protect yourself in your fall by putting yourself down and brace yourself. A dead man's fall is you just fall... If you're there and all of a sudden, your whole body, everything stops, just... you're out." Id.

Once Carter fell to the ground, Engler and Freemen scrambled to understand what had happened. 3/28/13 RP 107, 110-112, 164-165. Engler and Freeman's attention shifted frantically back and forth between Tanzy and Carter. Id. Carter began rolling and moaning on the sidewalk. 3/28/13 RP 111.

After a moment of initial confusion, Freeman intervened. Ex.

1, Track 6 at 1:12-30. Freeman stepped forward, shouted, and raised his hand toward Tanzy, causing Tanzy to back away from

Carter. <u>Id</u>. Engler watched Tanzy begin to flee southbound after the punch. 3/28/13 RP 110. Freeman advanced on Tanzy, yelling and demanding answers. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:12-30. Tanzy retreated halfway down the block, backing into a doorway that was still in sight of Rosas and the witnesses. 3/28/13 RP 164-166.

Through the initial confusion, Rosas stood quietly near Carter's head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:15-20. Rosas had seen Tanzy's punch but did not exhibit any signs of surprise. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:12. At one point immediately after Tanzy's punch knocked Carter to the ground, Rosas took a half-step toward Carter's head. Id. He stopped himself when Engler and Freeman looked in Carter's direction. Id. 4/2/13 RP 111.

The moment that Freeman and Engler's attention were again focused away from Carter, Rosas stepped toward Carter and attempted to kick Carter in the head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:25-1:27. Approximately 15 seconds elapsed between the moment Tanzy punched Carter and the moment Rosas attempted to kick Carter's head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:12-1:27. In his zeal, Rosas missed the kick and his momentum flung him to the ground, onto his back. Id. Rosas recovered slightly and then used his skateboard to strike Carter in the face. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:33-1:36. Rosas used a

chopping motion to bring the edge of his skateboard down onto the bridge of Carter's nose. <u>Id</u>. The tremendous force of the blow shattered Carter's nose and cheekbones, causing immediate, heavy bleeding. 3/28/13 RP 43; 4/1/13 RP 8. Engler kneeled on the ground with Carter to help him avoid choking on his blood. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:47-1:55; 3/28/13 RP 113-114. Carter later received reconstructive surgery to repair the damage to his face. 3/28/13 RP 48-49.

During Rosas' portion of the attack on Carter, Tanzy was still present, standing halfway down the block, within sight of the scene. 3/28/13 RP 164, 166.

Rosas' fresh attack on Carter pulled Freeman's attention away from Tanzy. 3/28/13 RP 165. Freeman turned and saw Rosas slam the skateboard down onto Carter's face. <u>Id</u>. Freeman ran into Belltown Pizza, calling for aid. <u>Id</u>.

Rosas stood up, glanced southbound toward Tanzy, and then fled the scene northbound. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:30-2:00.

Rosas was arrested later the same night after he doubled back and was discovered by police just south of where Tanzy had been standing. Id. 4/1/13 RP 21-22.

Immediately after calling for help, Freeman enlisted patrons to help him chase Tanzy, who was still within sight of the scene.

3/28/13 RP 165-169. Freeman chased Tanzy through the streets of Belltown and stopped Tanzy from fleeing in a taxi cab; Freeman ultimately lost Tanzy after Tanzy ran into a night club. Id. Tanzy was arrested approximately two weeks later, when Freeman saw him again in Belltown and identified him to police. 3/28/13 RP 170.

### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS TANZY'S CONVICTION FOR ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

Tanzy asserts that the State did not prove he committed assault in the second degree as a principal actor or that he was an accomplice to Rosas' actions. This argument should be rejected because there was ample evidence from which a rational fact-finder could find that Tanzy personally knocked Carter unconscious and that Tanzy participated in the assault with Rosas as his accomplice.

The State must prove each element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Alvarez, 128 Wn.2d 1, 13, 904 P.2d 754 (1995). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in a light most favorable to the State, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime

beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Goodman</u>, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004).

A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. Id. Circumstantial and direct evidence carry equal weight when reviewed by an appellate court. Id. A reviewing court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence.

State v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 719, 995 P.2d 107, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1023 (2000). The reviewing court need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but only that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the conviction. Id. at 718.

A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he intentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly inflicts substantial bodily harm. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a). Substantial bodily harm means bodily injury that involves a temporary but substantial disfigurement, or that causes a temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ, or that causes a fracture of any bodily part. RCW 9A.04.110(4)(b). A person is guilty of a crime committed by another if the person, with

knowledge it would facilitate the commission of the crime, solicits, encourages, or requests another to commit the crime, or aids in the planning or commission of the crime. RCW 9A.08.020. Having agreed to participate in the crime, a person runs the risk that an accomplice may exceed the scope of the preplanned illegal activity and elevate the crime to a more serious level. State v. Davis, 101 Wn.2d 654, 659, 682 P.2d 883, 886 (1984).

There is substantial evidence in this case to support the findings that Tanzy both knocked Carter unconscious and acted in concert with Rosas to carry out the assault on Carter. Indeed, appellant's claim to the contrary flies in the face of the testimony of witnesses and a video recording of the incident.

With regard to the issue of whether Carter was knocked unconscious, the jury heard the testimony of Carter, Engler, and Freeman, and watched a video recording of the incident. Carter testified that he "woke up" on the sidewalk after the punch, implying that he had previously been unconscious. 3/28/13 RP 40. Though the emergency room physician, Dr. Adedipe, testified that there was no way to medically determine whether Carter had lost consciousness after the punch, Dr. Adedipe also testified that Carter had reported "passing out" and that Carter's facial injuries

appeared consistent with his self-reporting. 4/1/13 RP 86. Engler described Carter's condition after the punch as being "laid out completely," with "eyes... rolled back in his head and completely out." 3/28/13 RP 107, 121. Freeman described Carter's fall as a "dead man's fall... [Like] when you blink out... Your whole body, everything stops, just... you're out." 3/28/13 RP 162. The jury saw the video of the incident where the punch caused Carter to tense, fall forward, and strike his face into the pavement without any attempt to brace himself. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:12-1:20. In sum, the jury was presented sufficient evidence from which they could reasonably conclude that Carter momentarily lost consciousness.

With regard to the issue of whether Tanzy and Rosas acted as accomplices, the jury heard the testimony of Engler, Freeman, a waitress named Mullenberg, and police officers who described the location where Rosas was arrested. The jury also watched a video recording of the incident.

Engler testified that Tanzy and Rosas were at Belltown Pizza together. 3/28/13 RP 125-26. Freeman testified that Tanzy and Rosas were there with each other that night. 3/28/13 RP 155. He said that Tanzy and Rosas had come out of the restaurant together 5 to 10 minutes prior to the assault, had interacted briefly, and then

Tanzy had reentered the restaurant while Rosas stayed outside. 3/28/13 RP 156. Waitress Mullenberg testified that, besides Carter's group, there was one other large group in the rear of Belltown Pizza that she was serving. 4/1/13 RP 49-50. A number of men were in the large group, as well as the woman for whom Carter bought a drink. Id. One of the men in the large group had a ponytail and was wearing a white tee shirt and a "hoodie" sweatshirt, consistent with the appearance of Rosas in the surveillance video. 4/1/13 RP 53; Ex. 1, Track 6 at 0:00-1:12. The location of the large group in the rear of Belltown Pizza was consistent with the location from which Tanzy could be seen in the surveillance video beginning to follow Carter outside. 4/1/13 RP 47, 49, 51; Ex. 1, Track 4 at 0:16-0:24. In sum, there was ample evidence from which to conclude that Tanzy and Rosas were socializing with each other.

The jury watched a surveillance video of the incident, which showed Tanzy walking over to Rosas prior to the assault, leaning on the fence next to Rosas, sharing a cigarette with Rosas, and apparently talking with Rosas. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 0:38-1:00. During the discussion, both Tanzy and Rosas looked toward Carter. Id.

After the discussion, both Tanzy and Rosas changed positions, and

Rosas picked up his skateboard. Id. In taking up new positions, Rosas continued to look back toward Tanzy. Id. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:00-1:12. When Tanzy punched Carter, Rosas showed no sign of surprise. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:12-1:15. Rosas made a small movement toward Carter immediately after Carter fell the ground, but stopped when witnesses' attention was focused on Carter. Id. Once witnesses looked away from Carter toward Tanzy, who was now southbound of the scene, Rosas tried to kick Carter in the head. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:27. After the skateboard strike, Rosas stood up and glanced toward Tanzy before fleeing the scene. Ex. 1, Track 6 at 1:27-1:45. Rosas was arrested later after he was found in the approximate area where Tanzy appeared to be headed at the time Rosas fled. 3/28/13 RP 166; 4/1/13 RP 21-22.

The overall picture presented by the surveillance video supports the inference that Tanzy and Rosas coordinated with each other prior to assaulting Carter, then carried out their respective strikes against Carter within seconds of each other and while both were still present at the scene. Though Rosas elevated the level of the assault through the use of his skateboard, Tanzy bore such a risk in agreeing with Rosas to assault Carter in the first place.

In short, substantial evidence supports the jury's conclusion that Tanzy committed assault in the second degree, either as a principal actor or as an accomplice.

### D. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Tanzy's assault conviction.